UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY

LANCE MILLER and LARRY RICHARDSON, Individually and on Behalf of All Other Persons

Similarly Situated, : CLASS ACTION : COMPLAINT

Plaintiffs,

-against- : Case No:

NEIL BROZEN, ASBURY CARBONS, INC., : PATRICK SOOK and ASBURY CARBONS, INC. : EMPLOYEE STOCK OWNERSHIP PLAN :

:

Defendants. :

Plaintiffs Lance Miller and Larry Richardson ("Plaintiffs"), individually and on behalf of the other participants and beneficiaries of the Asbury Carbons, Inc. Employee Stock Ownership Plan ("Asbury ESOP" or the "Plan), through counsel, upon personal knowledge as to themselves, and upon information and belief as to all other matters bring this action for damages and other relief against Defendants for violations of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 ("ERISA"), and allege as follows:

NATURE OF THE ACTION

1. Family businesses can be a blessing and a curse. This case is about a family-owned company, Asbury Carbons, Inc. ("Asbury Carbons" or the "Company"), which was founded by Harry M. Riddle in 1895, and which was recently sold to end an intra-family schism among his descendants over the leadership and strategic direction of the Company to the significant benefit of those descendants (the "Riddle family"), but to the significant detriment of Plaintiffs and the other participants in the Asbury ESOP, who, as a result of the sale, have lost approximately 53 percent of the value of their retirement benefits. In

approving this sale, the Defendants, which consist of the Asbury ESOP Trustee and Plan Administrator, breached the fiduciary duties they each owed to the Asbury ESOP participants in violation of ERISA.

The sale of the Company at issue closed on March 24, 2023, and resulted in 2. the acquisition by Mill Rock Capital (a private equity firm) of the Company by means of purchasing all of its outstanding stock for approximately \$93,212,984, of which the Asbury ESOP only received \$18,371,347.01 for its 19.709 percent stock interest in the Company. The Riddle family held all of the remaining stock in the Company (80.291%). The value of the Plan's holdings of Company stock, pursuant to the last Form 5500 filed with the United States Department of Labor ("DOL") before the Sale, was more than double this amount --\$38,468,559 – and which equated to a Company value of almost \$200 million. In addition, internal Company analyses valued the Company at between \$150 million to \$180 million, and Stephen Riddle, who was previously the Chief Executive Officer of the Company, made an offer to buy the Company for \$3,000 per share, which equated to a Company value of approximately \$150 million. Further, traditional methods for valuing the Company at or about the time of the sale would have confirmed that the sales price was far below fair value. Ignoring their fiduciary duties to the Asbury ESOP participants, each of the Defendants acted to consummate the directive of the Riddle family to sell the Company as soon as possible Pursuant to this family directive, no alternatives to a sale were pursued and no efforts were made by Defendants to block this significant below fair value sale, even though the Asbury ESOP, with its nearly 20% holdings of the Company's stock, had the ability to do so. Instead, they agreed to it, after a flawed hurry-up sales process and without the benefit of any independent opinion that the offer price was fair to the Asbury

ESOP participants and beneficiaries, and thereby caused the retirement accounts of every Asbury ESOP participant to lose about one-half of their value.

3. By this action, Plaintiffs seek to on their own behalf, and on behalf of the other Asbury ESOP participants and beneficiaries as of March 24, 2023, to recover the damages the Plan and their retirement accounts have suffered as a result of this markedly below fair value sale, pursuant to ERISA, 29 U.S.C. § 1001 et seq.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

- 4. The Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331, and ERISA § 502(e)(1), 29 U.S.C. § 1132(e)(1).
- 5. This Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendants because they transact business in, and have significant contacts with, this District, and because ERISA § 502(e)(2), 29 U.S.C. § 1132(e)(2) provides for nationwide service of process. The principal place of business of Asbury Carbons, which is the Sponsor and Administrator of the Plan, is located at 405 Old Main St., Asbury, NJ
- 6. Venue is proper in this District pursuant to ERISA § 502(e)(2), 29 U.S.C. § 1332(e)(2), because the Plan is administered in this District, and breaches occurred, in whole or in part, in this District, and Defendants either may be found in this District or have transacted business in this District concerning the Asbury ESOP.

THE PARTIES

Plaintiffs

7. Plaintiff Lance Miller is an individual residing in Califon, New Jersey, and has been an employee of the Company for 24 years. Plaintiff Lance Miller has been a

participant, as defined in ERISA § 3(7), 29 U.S.C. §1002(7), in the Asbury ESOP at all relevant times.

8. Plaintiff Larry Richardson is an individual residing in Washington, North Carolina, and has been an employee of the Company and/or its wholly owned subsidiary Asbury Graphite, Inc for 14 years. Plaintiff Larry Richardson has been a participant, as defined in ERISA § 3(7), 29 U.S.C. §1002(7), in the Asbury ESOP at all relevant times.

Defendants

- 9. Defendant Neil Brozen ("Brozen") was, at all relevant times, the Asbury ESOP's trustee (the "Trustee"). Brozen is the co-founder and President of Ventura Trust, which provides transactional and ongoing ESOP trustee services to ESOPs across the country as well as consulting services to internal trustees. Defendant Brozen currently serves as a trustee for 145 ESOP companies in 29 states, encompassing various industries such as construction, manufacturing, distribution, and government contractors. Prior to his appointment as Trustee, H. Marvin Riddle III, Stephen Riddle and others served as the Trustees for the Asbury ESOP. The Board of Directors of the Company, which served at the behest of the Riddle family (which included Stephen Riddle), given their approximately 80 percent ownership stake in the Company, had the power to and did authorize this change and also had the power to remove Defendant Brozen if the Riddle family was dissatisfied with his actions on behalf of the Asbury ESOP.
- 10. As Trustee, Brozen owed fiduciary duties under ERISA to the Plan participants. In violation of those fiduciary duties, Brozen agreed to sell all of the Plan assets (its shares in the Company) to facilitate the sale of the Company to Mill Rock

Capital for the sole benefit of the Riddle Family, which sale halved the value of the retirement accounts of the Plan participants and beneficiaries.

- Department of Labor ("DOL") on October 29, 2001, for the same breaches of fiduciary duty under ERISA alleged herein. In *Walsh v. Neil Brozen and others*, Case 3:22-cv-01869-E (N.D. Tex.), the DOL has alleged that Brozen violated his fiduciary duties under ERISA to the participants in the RVNB Holdings, Inc. ESOP by agreeing to sell all of the company stock held by that ESOP, as a part of the sale of the company, for grossly inadequate consideration. In that case, the DOL alleges the ESOP stock company holdings to have been worth between \$44.8 million to \$58.2 million, yet Brozen agreed to sell them for \$12.5 million.
- Administrator and Plan Sponsor. As Plan Administrator, Asbury Carbons had discretionary authority with regard to the administration and management of the Plan, including the operation of the Plan, and exercised that authority. As the May 2022 Summary Plan Document for the Plan states, "ERISA imposes duties upon persons who are responsible for the operation of the ESOP," who are "fiduciaries of the Plan" and therefore "have the duty to administer the Plan prudently and in the sole interest of ... the Plan Participants and beneficiaries." Defendant Asbury Carbons appointed senior financial officers of the Company to perform its Plan Administrator responsibilities -- specifically M. Susan Rish (Executive V.P. for finance) for at least the fiscal 2020 Plan Year and then Defendant Patrick Sook (the Company's Chief Financial Officer) the Plan years thereafter.

- Company during all relevant periods, who also served as the Company's appointed Plan Administrator during all relevant periods. Sook had discretionary authority with regard to the administration and management of the Plan, including the operation of the Plan, and exercised that authority. As a result, Sook also owed a fiduciary duty to administer the Plan prudently and in the sole interest of the Plan Participants and beneficiaries.

 Defendants Asbury Carbons and Sook are referred to collectively as the "Plan Administrator Defendants." Defendant Sook has retained his position as CFO of the Company following the Mill Rock Capital acquisition of the Company,
- 14. The Asbury ESOP, which has been terminated as a condition of the sale to Mill Rock Capital, was an employee benefit plan as defined by ERISA section 3(3), 29 U.S.C. § 1002(3), and was subject, at all relevant times, to coverage under ERISA pursuant to section 4(a)(1) of ERISA, 29 U.S.C. § 1003(a)(1). The Plan covered substantially all employees of the Company and participating subsidiaries of Asbury Carbons, Inc., namely Asbury Graphite Mills, Inc.; Anthracite Industries, Inc.; Asbury Graphite, Inc. of California; Cummings-Moore Graphite Company; Asbury Louisiana, Inc.; and Asbury Graphite of North Carolina who have completed one year of service and attained age twenty-one. There is a written instrument of the Asbury ESOP, within the meaning of ERISA § 402, 29 U.S.C. § 1102, by which the Plan has been maintained during the relevant period. The most recent version of this written instrument is dated as of May 2022 ("Plan Document"). A Summary Plan Description of that Plan Document was also created to provide to Plan participants if they requested the Plan Document. (the "May 2022 Summary Plan Description"). The Asbury ESOP is named as a nominal defendant

pursuant to Rule 19(a) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure solely if necessary to assure that complete relief can be granted.

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

Asbury Carbons and the Riddle family

- 15. Since the Company's founding in 1895 by Harry M. Riddle, the Company has been majority owned by the Riddle family (which consist of H. Marvin Riddle III, Stephen Riddle and his two sisters), which during all relevant times owned 80.3 percent of the Company's stock. Asbury Carbons has been for some time North America's largest processor and supplier of natural and synthetic graphite and cokes and the world's largest independent processor of graphite. Asbury Carbons sources these materials globally and operates 12 facilities in which the Company processes and distributes a broad range of application-specific materials and additives to customers' exacting performance requirements. Asbury Carbon's products are used in polymers and rubbers, paints and coatings, lubricants, specialty ceramics, friction products, insulation, and other materials.
- 16. At the time of the sale to Mill Rock Capital, Asbury had a long history of being a very successful company that experienced consistently, in recent years, annual sales in the range of \$160 to \$200 million, and annual profits in the range of \$15 to \$20 million.

 The Company also had significant growth potential and had no debt.
- 17. In an April 14, 2022, letter by Defendant Sook to Retirement Plan Participants, in which he explained the reason for a delay in providing an Annual Statement to Plan participants, he stated:

The shares of Asbury stock held in the ESOP were previously valued at \$2,390 per share as of June 30, 2020, and \$3,747 as of June 30, 2021. Since then, the Company's performance has been strong, which will be reflected in your next ESOP statement.

Defendants, however, agreed to sell the Plan's holdings of Company shares for only \$1,759.87 per share.

- 18. The direct descendants of Harry M. Riddle have always led the Company. His great-great grandson, H. Marvin Riddle III had long headed the Company but due to failing health gave up day-to-day responsibilities for the Company to his son, Stephen Riddle, who became President in 1995. H. Marvin Riddle III remained as Chairman of the Board until November 2018, when he had Stan Tilton, who is a Leadership Development Coach/Mentor and Career Strategist, replace him as Chairman. H. Marvin Riddle III had previously retained Stan Tilton to coach his son Stephen Riddle in leadership skills, when he became Chief Executive Officer ("CEO") of the Company.
- 19. Stephen Riddle became CEO in 2005 but due to growing disagreements with other Riddle family members as to his leadership of the Company and his lack of efforts to grow the Company, on April 17, 2020, Stephen Riddle, at the insistence of his family, stepped down from all day-to-day responsibilities for the Company, remaining with the Company only as a Director and significant shareholder.
- 20. Following this resignation, no one was appointed to succeed Stephen Riddle as CEO, leaving Noah Nichelson ("Nichelson") to run the Company as President, and marking the first time ever in the Company's long history that a member of the Riddle family had not been at the helm of the Company.
- 21. Nichelson joined the Company in 2015 as Chief Operating Officer and became President in 2016. Nichelson has retained his position as President of the Company following the sale to Mill Rock Capital. Nichelson was also a member of the Board of the Company at all relevant times.

- 22. An Executive Committee was then formed by the Board to explore the strategic direction of the Company going forward. The members of this committee were: Stan Tilton, Nichelson, Steve Polgar (Vice President of Operations), Kevin Meister (Vice President of Sales), and Lewis Fish (Vice President, Business Development & Key Accounts, until June 2022, when he retired from the Company). In the course of their work, the Executive Committee determined that the Company was worth \$150 million to \$180 million.
- 23. Later that year, Stephen Riddle, undaunted in his belief he should be running the Company, determined to take control of the entire Company by making an offer to purchase all of the shares he did not own for \$3,000 per share, which offer valued the overall Company at approximately \$150 million.
- 24. His offer, however, was rejected by the Executive Committee on the grounds it valued the Company at too low a price (as it was at the low end of their valuation of the Company earlier that year) and because Stephen Riddle had not demonstrated that he could obtain the financing to consummate such an acquisition. Frustrated by the rejection of his offer, sometime before the end of 2020, he made it widely known within the Company that he had offered to purchase the Company for \$3,000 per share and that his offer had been rejected.

The Decision to Sell the Company by the Riddle Family

25. Disputes between Stephen Riddle and his family about his leading the Company again continued to foment and by the summer of 2021 reached the point that the Riddle family determined that the only way to avoid a schism in the family was to sell the Company, which sale, they knew, would require the sale of all of the Riddle family's

holdings of Asbury Carbons stock as well as all of the Asbury ESOP's holdings of Asbury Carbons stock.

- 26. Accordingly, in August 2021, Tilton, who had a close relationship with Marvin Riddle III, on behalf of the Riddle family, informed the Executive Committee that the Riddle family wanted the Company sold as soon as a sale could be accomplished. There was no other reason to initiate a sale of the Company at this time: Asbury Carbons was thriving, as the overwhelming dominant player in the supply and processing of graphite in North America and the world's largest independent processor of graphite, with consistently strong financial results, and no debt.
- 27. To implement the Riddle family's decision to sell the Company, the Executive Committee's responsibility for investigating all strategic options for the Company was terminated and reassigned by the Board to a newly formed Strategic Initiative Committee, but that Committee was charged with only one initiative facilitating the sale of the Company. The members of the Strategic Initiative Committee were: Tilton, who was acting on behalf of the Riddle family, Nichelson, and M. Susan Rish, Executive Vice President of Finance and former officer responsible for the functions of the Plan Administrator. There was therefore not a single independent person on this Strategic Initiative Committee. Although Ms. Rish retired from the Company in late 2021, she continued in her role as a member of this Committee as a paid consultant by the Company and remained in that role until the sale to Mill Rock Capital closed in March 2023.
- 28. The Strategic Initiative Committee determined to hire Deloitte Corporate Finance to facilitate the Riddle family's sale directive. Deloitte Corporate Finance was

given no task other than to sell the Company and was not asked to prepare any valuation of the Company before or during their solicitation of bids.

- 29. Once bids were received, they were quickly winnowed down to two bidders

 Unimetal Group, which is a major producer of carbon related products in South America,
 and Mill Rock Capital, after having preliminary discussions with each of them.
- 30. In the second half of 2022, Mill Rock Capital then provided a sweetened bid of more than \$105 million. Unimetal Group, however, was only given a few days, over a weekend, to submit a new sweetened bid. When they didn't over the three days they were given, Mill Rock Capital was given exclusivity to conduct due diligence.
- 31. Once Mill Rock was given exclusivity, the Executive Committee was then charged with participating in that due diligence. Given the exclusivity afforded to Mill Rock Capital, the Company was not free to entertain any further offers.
- 32. During the course of that due diligence process, Mill Rock Capital kept lowering their offers, citing deteriorating financial considerations in the financial markets generally. Defendants Brozen and Sook knew of these lowered offers.
- Committee went to the Board of Directors of the Company and advocated that, given the deterioration in financial markets in the second half of 2022, the Company not be sold at that time. The Board of Directors at the time consisted of Stephen Riddle, Tilton, Nichelsen, William T. Meglaughlin (a former CFO of the Company), and J. Clark O'Donoghue (an attorney), all of whom (except for Stephen Riddle) served at the pleasure of the Riddle family. The Board rejected this effort to put off the sale. The Board did not deviate from the Riddle family's directive to sell the Company as soon as was possible.

- 34. Mill Rock Capital ultimately would only pay approximately \$98 million to purchase all the shares held by the Riddle family and the Asbury ESOP. Despite their knowledge that the general financial markets were continuing to deteriorate, which directly impacted the price at which Mill Rock Capital was willing to buy the Company, the sale was approved by the Board and Defendant Brozen, and with the complicity of the Plan Administrator Defendants, all to effectuate the Riddle family's determination to sell the Company as quickly as was possible. Defendant Brozen's approval on behalf of the Asbury ESOP and the Plan Administrator Defendants approval of a sale which required the sale of all of the Asbury ESOP's holdings of its shares in the Company and consummation of the sale of the Plan's shares in the Company were contrary to the interests of Plaintiffs and the Class defined below.
- 35. This sales process was also flawed. In addition to not affording Unimetal Group a reasonable time to improve its offer, neither the Strategic Initiative Committee nor the Executive Committee consisted of any independent members and neither they, nor the Company or Board, sought any opinion from any firm as to whether the Mill Rock Capital offer was fair to the Asbury ESOP, as they should have. For these reasons, and the other reasons set forth herein concerning a proper valuation of the Company, the sale price cannot be considered to represent as affording a fair value for the Asbury ESOP shares.
- 36. Defendants approved and facilitated this below-value sale in total disregard of their fiduciary duties under ERISA to act solely for the benefit of the Asbury ESOP participants and beneficiaries.

<u>Defendants Agreed to Sell the ESOP Holdings of Company Shares In</u> <u>Disregard of Independent Valuations of those Shares and Without Obtaining</u> an Independent Opinion that the Sale Price was Fair to Plan Participants

- 37. Defendants Brozen and the Plan Administrator Defendants were responsible for providing Summary Annual Reports following each fiscal year end (June 30) to all ESOP participants and beneficiaries reflecting their interests in the Plan. To determine the value of the Asbury ESOP Company share holdings as of June 30 each year, Defendants employed the services of the Schwartz Heslin Group ("SHG"), which offers strategic advisory, investment banking, and comprehensive business valuation services. SHG's valuation of the Asbury ESOP Company shareholdings was conducted using a market and income approach. A market approach to valuation of a private company is the guideline transactions method, which is based on valuation multiples derived primarily from merger & acquisition transactions involving companies similar to the subject company. An income approach to the value of any business is directly related to the present value of all future cash flows that the business is reasonably expected to produce. The income approach requires estimates of future cash flows and an appropriate rate at which to discount those future cash flows. This approach typically involves a discounted cash flow analysis.
- Asbury ESOP participants and beneficiaries, which were based on SHG's valuation of the Asbury ESOP's holdings of Company shares, stated the Net Asset Value of the ESOP was \$25,204,972. This Net Asset Value was based on SHG's determination that the value of the Asbury ESOP's interest in the Company's stock had a fair value of \$26,182,450. This annual statement was provided to Asbury ESOP participants by the January following the end of the Plan year, as was the practice in prior Plan years.

- 39. Defendants were also responsible for the filing of Annual Return/Report of Employee Benefit Plan on Form 5500 with the DOL, which reflected SHG's valuations. The 2019 Form 5500 for the period July 1, 2019, through June 30, 2020, was signed by the Company's Executive Vice President of Finance, M. Susan Rish, who was also a member of the Strategic Initiative Committee. This Form 5500 reflected the same \$25,204,972 Net Asset Value as was provided to Plan participants and beneficiaries in December 2020 and that the estimated fair value of the Plan's holdings of Company stock was \$26,182,450.
- As of June 30, 2021, the annual statements provided by Defendants to Asbury ESOP participants and beneficiaries, which were based on SHG's valuation of the Asbury ESOP's holdings of Company shares, stated the Net Asset Value of the ESOP was \$38,468,559. This Net Asset Value was based on SHG's determination that the value of the Asbury ESOP's interest in the Company had grown to a fair value of \$39,115,445. That statement, however, was not provided to Asbury ESOP participants until May 24, 2022, instead of four months earlier as was the prior practice.
- 41. Defendant Brozen was aware of Defendant Sook's April 14, 2022, letter to Plan participants which explained the reason for this delay, and which also stated that "the Company's performance has been strong" since June 30, 2021.
- 42. The 2020 Form 5500 for the period July 1, 2020, through June 30, 2021, was signed by the Company's then Chief Financial Officer, Defendant Sook, as Plan Administrator. It reflected the same \$38,468,559 Net Asset Valuation as was provided to Plan participants in December 2021 and that the estimated fair value of the Plan's holdings of Company stock was \$39,115,455.

- 43. Defendants also did not provide a Summary Annual Report to Asbury ESOP participants and beneficiaries for the fiscal year ended on June 30, 2022, by January 2023. Instead, on March 29, 2023, Defendant Brozen wrote all Asbury ESOP participants and beneficiaries and advised them that the ESOP had sold its shareholdings and received sale proceeds of \$18,371,347.01 for its 19.709 percent interest in the Company's stock -- representing a shocking 52 percent decline in the value of their retirement accounts from the June 30, 2021, valuation Defendants had provided to them and a 42 percent decline in a December 30, 2021 interim valuation that Defendants provided to them. Neither Defendant Brozen nor the Plan Administrator Defendants have provided any explanation that would justify \$18,371,347.01 as a fair valuation to sell all of the Asbury ESOP's holdings.
- 44. Nevertheless, Defendants agreed to the terms of the sale to Mill Rock
 Capital which resulted in a significant reduction of the Asbury ESOP Plan participants and
 beneficiary retirement accounts.
- 45. Defendants also did not seek to obtain an independent opinion as to the fairness of the proposed sale price to Plan participants and beneficiaries, as they should have. Had they tried to obtain such a fairness opinion, no reputable firm would have opined that the sale price was fair to such persons.
- 46. Given the approximately 20% stake in the Company held by the Asbury ESOP, the ESOP had the ability to block the sale but failed to do so even though it would result in Asbury ESOP participants losing over 50% of the value of the retirement benefits.
- 47. The 2021 Form 5500 for the period July 1, 2021, through June 30, 2022, was not filed with the DOL until April 18, 2023, which was <u>after</u> the sale to Mill Rock Capital closed on March 24, 2023. It was also signed by Defendant Sook as Plan Administrator. This after the fact filing, was made in an attempt to retroactively support

the Defendants' approval of the significantly below fair value sale of the Plan's holdings of Company shares.

- 48. This April 18, 2023, Form 5500, which only addresses the Plan year ending June 30, 2022, asserts without any basis whatsoever, and contrary to Defendant Sook's April 14, 2022 letter in which he states "the Company's performance has been strong," that the value of the ESOP Company shareholdings precipitously dropped_to \$19,091,191, a decline of \$20,024,264 from June 30, 2021, and an amount which is an amount that is only about 4 percent more than the \$18,371,347.01 amount of proceeds received by the Plan from the March 2023 sale of its Asbury stockholdings. Additionally, the accounting report on which this valuation was made was not signed until April 18, 2023. This was a sham, after the fact, filing by Defendants.
- 49. Defendant Sook knew or should have known of the Executive Committee's \$150 180 million valuation and of Defendant Stephen Riddle's own offer valuing the Company at \$150 million. Further, as a Chief Financial Officer, Defendant Sook also knew or should have known that the sales price represented an earnings multiple of approximately 4.65 and that an appropriate earnings multiple for the sale of a stable profitable company no debt, such as the Company, was, at the time, more than double that.
- 50. Neither Brozen nor the Plan Administrator Defendants objected to the sale of the Plan's shares to Mill Rock Capital or take any steps to prevent it, such as refusing to sell the Plan's Company shareholdings at the offer price. In doing so, the Defendants acted solely in furtherance of the Riddle family's determination to sell the Company, and to the determinant of the retirement accounts of the Asbury ESOP participants and beneficiaries.

<u>Defendants Knew The Sale Was Agreed to At an Extremely Disadvantageous</u> <u>Time to Sell the Company</u>

51. During the due diligence process described above, Mill Rock Capital kept lowering its proposed offer price citing a deterioration in the financial markets. In fact, as reported by Bain & Company, a top management consulting firm which advises corporate leaders on strategy, marketing, organization, operations, IT and M&A, across all industries:

The year 2022 was a tale of two halves. After a blockbuster year for M&A in 2021, the first five months of 2022 reflected continued strong dealmaking activity. The big turning point occurred on June 16, 2022, when an interest rate hike by the US Federal Reserve Bank, combined with heightened macroeconomic uncertainty, put a chill on the deal market. Megadeals greater than \$10 billion went on pause while smaller deals slowed. Deal multiples tempered. The midyear correction resulted in a 36% decline in annual M&A deal value, to \$3.8 trillion (see Figures 1 and 2). After a strong first half of 2022, the market slowed in the second half.

https://www.bain.com/insights/looking-back-at-2022-m-and-a-report-2023/

52. Mill Rock Capital's offers were therefore not representative of the fair value of the Company's shares, which Defendants knew or should have known. Nevertheless, they made no effort to stop the sales process or the acceptance of Mill Rock Capital's offer, and instead agreed to consummate the Riddle Family's directive to sell the Company as soon as was possible, to the substantial determent of the retirement accounts of the Plan participants and beneficiaries.

<u>Defendant Brozen Failed to Provide Plan Participants and Beneficiaries a Vote</u> on the Acquisition, as Required by the Asbury ESOP

53. The May 2022 Summary Plan Description describes the rights Plan participants and beneficiaries have to voice their views on a sale of the Company:

As a Plan participant you may direct the Trustee as to how to vote the shares of Company stock held in your ESOP account with respect to the approval or disapproval of any corporate merger or consolidation, recapitalization, reclassification, liquidation, dissolution, or sale of substantially all Company

<u>assets.</u> The Trustee will provide a ballot for you if such matters arise. In such case, the Trustee will vote your shares according to your instructions.
 Emphasis added.

54. This provision is not qualified by any condition that there be a vote of all shareholders on such transactions. Defendant Brozen breached his fiduciary duties to the Plan participants and beneficiaries by approving the sale to Mill Rock Capital on his own without, as required, putting the issue up to a vote of the Plan participants and beneficiaries.

The Riddle Family and Stephen Riddle Achieve Their Objectives

- 55. On March 28, 2023, Nichelson wrote to all Asbury Carbons employees to inform them of the Riddle family's sale of the Company to Mill Rock Capital.
- 56. As a result of the consummation of their directive to sell the Company, the Riddle family, which includes Stephen Riddle, ended their schism and received almost \$75 million from the sale, which was likely all profit to them as the Company shares they owned were initially acquired in 1895 at likely one cent per share and benefited from a step in basis with the passing of the Riddle stock from generation to generation. In contrast, the Asbury ESOP participant accounts have collectively lost over \$20 million.
- 57. Stephen Riddle has also received an additional benefit from the sale -- a continued role in the Company without having to deal with his family over the Company's management.

CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS

58. Plaintiffs bring the foregoing causes of action on behalf of the following class pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. Rule 23(b)(1) (the "Class"):

All Participants and Beneficiaries in the Asbury Carbons, Inc. Employee Stock Ownership Plan as of March 24, 2023, other than any Defendant.

- 59. Class certification of Plaintiffs' Claims for Relief for violations of ERISA is appropriate pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. Rule 23(b)(1). Fiduciaries of ERISA-covered plans have a legal obligation to act consistently with respect to all similarly situated participants and beneficiaries and to act solely in the best interests of the Plan and its participants and beneficiaries. This action challenges whether Defendants acted consistently with their fiduciary duties or otherwise violated ERISA as to the Asbury ESOP and all participant and beneficiary accounts as a whole. As a result, the prosecution of separate actions by individual Class members would create the risk of inconsistent adjudications that would establish incompatible standards of conduct relating to the Plan.
- 60. The Class is so numerous that the joinder of all members is impracticable. According to the most recent Form 5500 for the period ended June 30, 2022, filed April 23, 2023, there were, at the time, 205 Participants in the Plan.
- 61. The issues of liability are common to all members of the Class and are capable of common answers as those issues primarily focus on whether Defendants' acts (or failures to act) breached the fiduciary duties they owed to Plaintiff and the members of the Class. Questions of law and fact common to the Class as a whole include, but are not limited to, the following:
 - a) Whether Defendants breached their fiduciary duties to Plaintiffs and the Class by causing the Asbury ESOP and the accounts of its participants and beneficiaries to receive inadequate consideration from the sale of the Plan's assets to Mill Rock Capital;

- b) Whether Defendant Brozen breached his fiduciary duties to the Plaintiffs and Class in failing to provide a ballot to them to vote on whether the Plan should sell all its Company stockholdings to Mill Rock Capital;
- c) Whether Defendants caused the Plan to engage in a prohibited transaction in connection with the sale of Plan Assets to benefit the Riddle family;
- d) Whether the losses suffered by the Asbury ESOP are a result of the Defendants' ERISA violations; and
 - e) The appropriate relief for Defendants' violations of ERISA.
- 62. Plaintiffs' claims are typical of those of the Class because their claims arise from the same events, practices and/or course of conduct.
- 63. Plaintiffs will fairly and adequately represent and protect the interests of the Class.
- 64. Plaintiffs do not have any interests antagonistic to or in conflict with the interests of the members of the Class.
- 65. Plaintiffs have retained counsel competent and experienced in complex class actions, ERISA, and employee benefits litigation.

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION: Breach Of Fiduciary Duty Under ERISA §404(a)(1)(A),(B) & (D) (on Behalf of Plaintiffs and the Class against All Defendants)

- 66. Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate by reference paragraphs 1 through 65 as if they were set forth again herein.
- 67. The Asbury ESOP May 2022 Summary Plan Description names the persons who operate the Plan are "fiduciaries of the Plan" who "have the duty to administer the

plan prudently and in the sole interest of you and other Plan participants and beneficiaries."

Defendant Brozen and the Plan Administrator Defendants were responsible for operating and exercised discretionary authority over the management of or assets of the Plan.

68. According to the U.S. Department of Labor:

The Employee Retirement Income Security Act (ERISA) protects your plan's assets by requiring that those persons or entities who exercise discretionary control or authority over plan management or plan assets, anyone with discretionary authority or responsibility for the administration of a plan, or anyone who provides investment advice to a plan for compensation or has any authority or responsibility to do so are subject to fiduciary responsibilities. <u>Plan fiduciaries include</u>, for example, plan trustees, plan administrators, and members of a plan's investment committee.

https://www.dol.gov/general/topic/retirement/fiduciaryresp (emphasis added).

- 69. Defendant Brozen was therefore, at all relevant times, a fiduciary of the Asbury ESOP pursuant to ERISA sections 3(21)(A)(i) and (iii), 29 U.S.C. §§ 1002(21)(A)(i) and (iii).
- 70. The Plan Administrator Defendants, therefore, at all relevant times, were fiduciaries of the Asbury ESOP pursuant to ERISA sections 3(21)(A)(i) and (iii), 29 U.S.C. §§ 1002(21)(A)(i) and (iii).
- 71. ERISA §404(a)(1), 29 U.S.C. § 1104(a)(1), requires that a fiduciary discharge his or her duties with respect to a plan solely in the interest of the participants and the beneficiaries, (A) for the exclusive purpose of providing benefits to participants and beneficiaries of the ESOP, (B) with care, skill, prudence, and diligence under the circumstances then prevailing that a prudent person acting in a like capacity and familiar with such matters would use in the conduct of an enterprise of a like character and with like

aims., and (D) in accordance with the documents and instruments governing the plan insofar as such documents and instruments are consistent with ERISA.

- 72. The duties of loyalty under ERISA § 404(a)(1)(A) and prudence under ERISA § 404(a)(1)(B) require a fiduciary to undertake an appropriate investigation to determine that the participant receives adequate consideration for the assets in his or her account in the Plan. Pursuant to ERISA § 3(18), adequate consideration for an asset for which there is no generally recognized market, means the fair market value of the asset determined in good faith by the trustee or named fiduciary pursuant to the terms of the plan and in accordance with the Department of Labor regulations.
- 73. The Plan required each account to "be valued at the end of every Plan Year (July 1)" and specified that "The value of Asbury Carbons, Inc. shares is determined each year by the Trustee in consultation with an independent appraiser."
- 74. Defendants did not act prudently, loyally, or in good faith, and did not conduct an appropriate investigation, in allowing and agreeing to, and in doing nothing to prevent, the sale of the Asbury ESOP holdings of nearly 20 percent of the Company shares for grossly inadequate consideration.
- 75. Defendant Brozen breached his fiduciary duties under ERISA §§

 404(a)(1)(A) and 404(a)(1)(B) by, among other things (a) failing to timely obtain well-prior to the acquisition, an independent valuation of the Company shares held by the Plan as of June 30, 2022; (b) agreeing to a sale of the Plan's 20 percent stake in the Company for a value that he knew or should have known was significantly less than the fair value of the Company stock; (c) agreeing to the sale of Plan shares in the Company to Mill Rock Capital when he knew or should have known that the state of the financial market for

selling a company such as Asbury in the second half of 2022 was markedly deteriorating;

(d) agreeing to the sale to Mill Rock Capital without obtaining an opinion from an independent firm that the Mill Rock Capital proposed purchase price was fair to the Plan participants and beneficiaries, all of which should have caused him not to participate in any way in the sale of the Company at this time, which sale the Plan could have blocked given the size of the Plan's Company stock holdings.

- 76. Defendant Brozen approved the sale of the Asbury ESOP assets for grossly inadequate consideration, in part, to portray himself as willing to acquiesce in a company's plans in order to maintain his existing clients and secure additional ESOP clients.
- 77. Each of the Plan Administrator Defendants had a conflict of interest which precluded them from acting solely in the interests of the Plan participants and beneficiaries. The Company was acting under the directive of the Riddle family to sell the Company as soon as was possible and Defendant Sook, as the CFO, of the Company was acting in furtherance of that directive. In addition, Defendant Sook was further conflicted as the Mill Rock Capital offer included his retention as CFO following the acquisition. As a result, the Plan Administrator Defendants did not act prudently or loyally in allowing and/or facilitating the sale of the Asbury ESOP holdings of nearly 20 percent of the Company shares for grossly inadequate consideration.
- 78. The Plan Administrator Defendants breached their fiduciary duties under ERISA §§ 404(a)(1)(A) and 404(a)(1)(B) by, among other things (a) failing to timely obtain well-prior to the acquisition, an independent valuation of the Company shares held by the Plan as of June 30, 2022; (b) agreeing to a sale of the Plan's 20 percent stake in the Company for a value that they knew or should have known was significantly less than the

fair value of the Company stock; (c) agreeing to the sale of Plan shares in the Company to Mill Rock Capital when they knew or should have known that the state of the financial market for selling a company such as Asbury in the second half of 2022 was markedly deteriorating; (d) agreeing to the sale to Mill Rock Capital without obtaining an opinion from an independent firm that the Mill Rock Capital proposed purchase price was fair to the Plan participants and beneficiaries, all of which should have caused the Plan Participant Defendants not to participate in any way in the sale of the Company at this time, which sale the Plan could have blocked given the size of the Plan's Company stock holdings.

79. As a result of the breaches of fiduciary duty described in this Cause of Action, Defendant Brozen and the Plan Administrator Defendants caused losses to the Plan accounts of Plaintiffs and the members of the Class and the Plan, for which they are liable pursuant to ERISA section 409(a), 29 U.S.C. § 1109(a).

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION: Breach Of Fiduciary Duty Under ERISA §404(a)(1) (D) (On Behalf of Plaintiffs and the Class against Defendant Brozen)

- 80. Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate by reference paragraphs 1 through 79 as if they were set forth again herein.
- 81. ERISA §§ 404(a)(1)(D) requires that a fiduciary discharge his or her duties with respect to a plan <u>solely</u> in the interest of the participants and the beneficiaries, and "in accordance with the documents and instruments governing the plan insofar as such documents and instruments are consistent with ERISA."
- 82. Defendant Brozen breached his fiduciary duties under ERISA § 404(a)(1)(D) by failing to provide Plan participants and beneficiaries with a ballot by which they could

indicate whether they favored or opposed the sale of the Company shares held by the Plan to Mill Rock Capital.

83. As a result of the breach of fiduciary duty described in this Cause of Action, Defendant Brozen caused losses to the Plan accounts of Plaintiffs and the members of the Class and the Plan, for which they are liable pursuant to ERISA section 409(a), 29 U.S.C. § 1109(a).

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION: Engaging in a Prohibited Transaction Forbidden by ERISA §406(b) (On Behalf of Plaintiffs and the Class against All Defendants)

- 84. Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate by reference paragraphs 1 through 79 as if they were set forth again herein.
- 85. ERISA § 406(b)(2) mandates that "a fiduciary with respect to a plan shall not" "(2) in his individual capacity or in any other capacity act in any transaction involving the plan on behalf of a party . . . whose interests are adverse to the plan or the interests of its participants."
 - 86. Defendant Brozen was a fiduciary of the Plan at all relevant times.
- 87. Each of the Plan Administrator Defendants were fiduciaries of the Plan at all relevant times.
- 88. By agreeing to sell all of the Plan's holdings in Asbury stock at a price that was far below the fair value of those shares so that the Riddle family, which had interests adverse to the Plan and the accounts of Plan participants and beneficiaries, Defendants violated ERISA § 406(b)(2), 29 U.S.C. § 1106(b)(2) and caused losses to the retirement accounts of Plaintiffs and the Class members.

FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION: For Co-Fiduciary Liability under 29 U.S.C 1105(a)(2) (On Behalf of Plaintiffs and the Class against all Defendants)

- 89. Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate by reference paragraphs 1 through 88 as if they were set forth again herein.
- 90. Defendant Brozen and the Plan Administrator Defendants are also liable as fiduciaries for the fiduciary breaches of their co-fiduciaries under ERISA section 405(a), which makes a fiduciary "liable for a breach of fiduciary responsibility of another fiduciary with respect to the same plan . . . (1) if he participates knowingly in . . . an act or omission of such other fiduciary, knowing such act or omission is a breach; (2) if, by his failure to comply with section 1104(a)(1) of this title in the administration of his specific responsibilities which give rise to his status as a fiduciary, he has enabled such other fiduciary to commit a breach; or (3) if he has knowledge of a breach by such other fiduciary, unless he makes reasonable efforts under the circumstances to remedy the breach." 29 U.S.C. §§ 1105(a)(1), (2), and (3).
- 91. As set forth above, Defendants Brozen and the Plan Administrator

 Defendants knew that the sale to Mill Rock Capital was for grossly inadequate

 consideration, that the sales process which led to the sale to Mill Rock Capital of the

 Asbury ESOP Company shares for grossly inadequate consideration was flawed, and that

 no opinion was obtained demonstrating that the sale price was fair to the Asbury ESOP and

 to the accounts of Plan participants and beneficiaries. Yet, they did not take any action to

 prevent or remedy the sale to Mill Rock Capital. As a result, Defendant Brozen and the

 Plan Administrator Defendants "participate[d] knowingly" in the breaches of each other's

fiduciary duties to the Asbury ESOP and are jointly and severally liable for these breaches pursuant to ERISA section 405(a)(1), 29 U.S.C. § 1105(a)(1).

92. Despite knowing that Defendant Brozen and the Plan Administrator

Defendants had breached fiduciary duties to the Asbury ESOP as set forth above, they

failed to make reasonable efforts to fully remedy the breaches and are jointly and severally
liable for each other's breaches pursuant to ERISA section 405(a)(3), 29 U.S.C. §

1105(a)(3).

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs pray that the Court:

- 1. Require Defendants to jointly and severally make good to the Asbury ESOP, or to the account in which the sale proceeds received by the Plan have been deposited, the losses resulting from their breaches of fiduciary duties, as alleged herein;
- Declare this action to be a proper class action under Rule 23 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure;
- 3. Require Defendants to pay attorneys' fees and the costs of this action pursuant to ERISA § 502(g)(1), 29 U.S.C. § 1132(g)(1) and/or ordering reasonable attorneys' fees and expenses of this action to Plaintiffs' Counsel on the basis of the common benefit and/or common fund doctrine (and/or other applicable law) out of any money or benefit recovered for the Class in this action;
- 4. Require Defendants to pay pre-judgment interest and post-judgment interest; and
- 5. Grant such other relief as the Court determines may be equitable, just and proper.

Dated: May 9, 2023

By: /s Seth R. Lesser
Seth R. Lesser
Jeffrey A. Klafter*
KLAFTER LESSER LLP
Two International Drive, Suite 350
Rye Brook, New York 10573
E-mail: seth@klafterlesser.com
jak@klafterlsesser.com
Telephone: (914) 934-9200
www.klafterlesser.com

Michael A. Galpern Javerbaum Wurgaft Hicks Kahn Wikstrom and Sinins, P.C. 1000 Haddonfield-Berlin Road, Suite 203, Voorhees, NJ 08043 www.lawjw.com E-mail: mgalpern@lawjw.com Telephone: (856) 596-4100

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFFS

^{*} to be admitted Pro Hac Vice

 $_{
m JS~44~(Rev.~04/21)}$ Case 3:23-cv-02540 Decrepted to $_{
m CVF}$ in $_{
m CVF}$ Page 1 of 2 PageID: 29

The JS 44 civil cover sheet and the information contained herein neither replace nor supplement the filing and service of pleadings or other papers as required by law, except as provided by local rules of court. This form, approved by the Judicial Conference of the United States in September 1974, is required for the use of the Clerk of Court for the

purpose of initiating the civil do	ocket sheet. (SEE INSTRUC	TIONS ON NEXT PAGE OF	F THIS FORM.)	•	
	ARRY RICHARDSON, half of All Other Persor		DEFENDANTS NEIL BROZEN, ASBURY CARBONS, INC., PATRICK SOOK and ASBURY CARBONS, INC.EMPLOYEE STOCK OWNERSHIP PLAN		
(b) County of Residence of First Listed Plaintiff Hunterdon County			County of Residence	e of First Listed Defendant	
(EX	CEPT IN U.S. PLAINTIFF CA	SES)	(IN U.S. PLAINTIFF CASES ONLY) NOTE: IN LAND CONDEMNATION CASES, USE THE LOCATION OF THE TRACT OF LAND INVOLVED.		
(c) Attorneys (Firm Name, Address, and Telephone Number) Seth R. Lesser KLAFTER LESSER LLP Two International Drive, Suite 350 Rye Brook, New York 10573			Attorneys (If Known))	
(914)934-9200	13				
II. BASIS OF JURISDICTION (Place an "X" in One Box Only)			III. CITIZENSHIP OF P		
1 U.S. Government	U.S. Government		(For Diversity Cases Only)	PTF DEF	and One Box for Defendant) PTF DEF
Plaintiff	(U.S. Government Not a Party)		_	1 Incorporated or Pri of Business In T	incipal Place 4 4
2 U.S. Government Defendant	4 Diversity (Indicate Citizenship of Parties in Item III)		Citizen of Another State	2 Incorporated and F of Business In A	
	_		Citizen or Subject of a Foreign Country	3 Sorieign Nation	6 6
IV. NATURE OF SUIT				Click here for: Nature of S	
CONTRACT		RTS	FORFEITURE/PENALTY	BANKRUPTCY	OTHER STATUTES
110 Insurance 120 Marine 130 Miller Act 140 Negotiable Instrument	PERSONAL INJURY 310 Airplane 315 Airplane Product Liability	PERSONAL INJURY 365 Personal Injury - Product Liability 367 Health Care/	625 Drug Related Seizure of Property 21 USC 881	422 Appeal 28 USC 158 423 Withdrawal 28 USC 157	375 False Claims Act 376 Qui Tam (31 USC 3729(a)) 400 State Reapportionment
150 Recovery of Overpayment	320 Assault, Libel &	Pharmaceutical		INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY RIGHTS	410 Antitrust
& Enforcement of Judgment	Slander	Personal Injury		820 Copyrights	430 Banks and Banking
151 Medicare Act 152 Recovery of Defaulted	330 Federal Employers' Liability	Product Liability 368 Asbestos Personal		830 Patent	450 Commerce
Student Loans	340 Marine	Injury Product		835 Patent - Abbreviated New Drug Application	460 Deportation 470 Racketeer Influenced and
(Excludes Veterans)	345 Marine Product	Liability		840 Trademark	Corrupt Organizations
153 Recovery of Overpayment	Liability	PERSONAL PROPERT		880 Defend Trade Secrets	480 Consumer Credit
of Veteran's Benefits 160 Stockholders' Suits	350 Motor Vehicle 355 Motor Vehicle	370 Other Fraud 371 Truth in Lending	710 Fair Labor Standards Act	Act of 2016	(15 USC 1681 or 1692) 485 Telephone Consumer
190 Other Contract	Product Liability	380 Other Personal	720 Labor/Management	SOCIAL SECURITY	Protection Act
195 Contract Product Liability	360 Other Personal	Property Damage	Relations	861 HIA (1395ff)	490 Cable/Sat TV
196 Franchise	Injury	385 Property Damage	740 Railway Labor Act	862 Black Lung (923)	850 Securities/Commodities/
	362 Personal Injury - Medical Malpractice	Product Liability	751 Family and Medical Leave Act	863 DIWC/DIWW (405(g)) 864 SSID Title XVI	Exchange
REAL PROPERTY	CIVIL RIGHTS	PRISONER PETITION		865 RSI (405(g))	890 Other Statutory Actions 891 Agricultural Acts
210 Land Condemnation	440 Other Civil Rights	Habeas Corpus:	x 791 Employee Retirement	003 163 (103(g))	893 Environmental Matters
220 Foreclosure	441 Voting	463 Alien Detainee	Income Security Act	FEDERAL TAX SUITS	895 Freedom of Information
230 Rent Lease & Ejectment	442 Employment	510 Motions to Vacate		870 Taxes (U.S. Plaintiff	Act
240 Torts to Land 245 Tort Product Liability	443 Housing/ Accommodations	Sentence 530 General		or Defendant) 871 IRS—Third Party	896 Arbitration 899 Administrative Procedure
290 All Other Real Property	445 Amer. w/Disabilities -	535 Death Penalty	IMMIGRATION	26 USC 7609	Act/Review or Appeal of
	Employment	Other:	462 Naturalization Applicatio	n	Agency Decision
	446 Amer. w/Disabilities - Other	540 Mandamus & Other			950 Constitutionality of State Statutes
	448 Education	550 Civil Rights 555 Prison Condition	Actions		State Statutes
		560 Civil Detainee -			
		Conditions of Confinement			
V. ORIGIN (Place an "X" in	One Roy Only)	Commentent			1
x 1 Original 2 Rer	noved from 3	Remanded from Appellate Court		erred from 6 Multidistri er District Litigation	- Litigation -
	Cite the U.S. Civil Sta	tute under which you are	(speci <u>j</u> e filing (Do not cite jurisdictional sto	**	Direct File
VI. CAUSE OF ACTION Brief description of cause: Violations of fiduciary duties under the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 ("ERISA") 29 U.S.C. § 1104(a)(1), 29 U.S.C. § 1106(b)(2), 29 U.S.C 1105(a)(2)					
VII. REQUESTED IN X CHECK IF THIS IS A CLASS ACTION		DEMAND \$ CHECK YES only if demanded in complaint:			
COMPLAINT:	T: UNDER RULE 23, F.R.Cv.P.		TBD	JURY DEMAND:	☐Yes 🔀 No
VIII. RELATED CASE IF ANY	(See instructions):	нтог		DOGRETALINGER	
		JUDGE		DOCKET NUMBER	
DATE 5/9/2023		SIGNATURE OF ATTO s/ Seth R. Lesser	ORNEY OF RECORD		
FOR OFFICE USE ONLY					
RECEIPT # AN	MOUNT	APPLYING IFP	JUDGE	MAG. JUI	OGE

INSTRUCTIONS FOR ATTORNEYS COMPLETING CIVIL COVER SHEET FORM JS 44

Authority For Civil Cover Sheet

The JS 44 civil cover sheet and the information contained herein neither replaces nor supplements the filings and service of pleading or other papers as required by law, except as provided by local rules of court. This form, approved by the Judicial Conference of the United States in September 1974, is required for the use of the Clerk of Court for the purpose of initiating the civil docket sheet. Consequently, a civil cover sheet is submitted to the Clerk of Court for each civil complaint filed. The attorney filing a case should complete the form as follows:

- **I.(a) Plaintiffs-Defendants.** Enter names (last, first, middle initial) of plaintiff and defendant. If the plaintiff or defendant is a government agency, use only the full name or standard abbreviations. If the plaintiff or defendant is an official within a government agency, identify first the agency and then the official, giving both name and title.
- (b) County of Residence. For each civil case filed, except U.S. plaintiff cases, enter the name of the county where the first listed plaintiff resides at the time of filing. In U.S. plaintiff cases, enter the name of the county in which the first listed defendant resides at the time of filing. (NOTE: In land condemnation cases, the county of residence of the "defendant" is the location of the tract of land involved.)
- (c) Attorneys. Enter the firm name, address, telephone number, and attorney of record. If there are several attorneys, list them on an attachment, noting in this section "(see attachment)".
- II. Jurisdiction. The basis of jurisdiction is set forth under Rule 8(a), F.R.Cv.P., which requires that jurisdictions be shown in pleadings. Place an "X" in one of the boxes. If there is more than one basis of jurisdiction, precedence is given in the order shown below. United States plaintiff. (1) Jurisdiction based on 28 U.S.C. 1345 and 1348. Suits by agencies and officers of the United States are included here. United States defendant. (2) When the plaintiff is suing the United States, its officers or agencies, place an "X" in this box. Federal question. (3) This refers to suits under 28 U.S.C. 1331, where jurisdiction arises under the Constitution of the United States, an amendment to the Constitution, an act of Congress or a treaty of the United States. In cases where the U.S. is a party, the U.S. plaintiff or defendant code takes precedence, and box 1 or 2 should be marked.

 Diversity of citizenship. (4) This refers to suits under 28 U.S.C. 1332, where parties are citizens of different states. When Box 4 is checked, the citizenship of the different parties must be checked. (See Section III below; NOTE: federal question actions take precedence over diversity cases.)
- III. Residence (citizenship) of Principal Parties. This section of the JS 44 is to be completed if diversity of citizenship was indicated above. Mark this section for each principal party.
- IV. Nature of Suit. Place an "X" in the appropriate box. If there are multiple nature of suit codes associated with the case, pick the nature of suit code that is most applicable. Click here for: Nature of Suit Code Descriptions.
- V. Origin. Place an "X" in one of the seven boxes.
 - Original Proceedings. (1) Cases which originate in the United States district courts.

Removed from State Court. (2) Proceedings initiated in state courts may be removed to the district courts under Title 28 U.S.C., Section 1441. Remanded from Appellate Court. (3) Check this box for cases remanded to the district court for further action. Use the date of remand as the filing date.

Reinstated or Reopened. (4) Check this box for cases reinstated or reopened in the district court. Use the reopening date as the filing date. Transferred from Another District. (5) For cases transferred under Title 28 U.S.C. Section 1404(a). Do not use this for within district transfers or multidistrict litigation transfers.

Multidistrict Litigation - Transfer. (6) Check this box when a multidistrict case is transferred into the district under authority of Title 28 U.S.C. Section 1407.

Multidistrict Litigation – Direct File. (8) Check this box when a multidistrict case is filed in the same district as the Master MDL docket. **PLEASE NOTE THAT THERE IS NOT AN ORIGIN CODE 7.** Origin Code 7 was used for historical records and is no longer relevant due to changes in statute.

- VI. Cause of Action. Report the civil statute directly related to the cause of action and give a brief description of the cause. **Do not cite jurisdictional** statutes unless diversity. Example: U.S. Civil Statute: 47 USC 553 Brief Description: Unauthorized reception of cable service.
- VII. Requested in Complaint. Class Action. Place an "X" in this box if you are filing a class action under Rule 23, F.R.Cv.P.

 Demand. In this space enter the actual dollar amount being demanded or indicate other demand, such as a preliminary injunction.

 Jury Demand. Check the appropriate box to indicate whether or not a jury is being demanded.
- VIII. Related Cases. This section of the JS 44 is used to reference related pending cases, if any. If there are related pending cases, insert the docket numbers and the corresponding judge names for such cases.

Date and Attorney Signature. Date and sign the civil cover sheet.